**RECEIVED**

**May 06 2021**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Georgetown County

Honorable William H. Seals, Circuit Court Judge

---

JAMIE L. GILES,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2020-001364

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

LARA M. CAUDY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

## **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Whether Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel were violated when trial counsel failed to argue evidence of Daniae Kelly's pending charges and his sentencing exposure on those charges was admissible pursuant to the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment and Rule 608(c), SCRE, as evidence of bias, where there is a reasonable probability the outcome of Petitioner's trial would have been different since Kelly's credibility was crucial to the state's case given the state alleged Petitioner shot Kelly with malice and Petitioner asserted he acted in self-defense?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 15, 2014, about five months before the shooting for which Petitioner was on trial, Petitioner was visiting the mobile home of Wilbert “Punchy” Burroughs, the neighborhood “bootlegger.” He arrived around midnight to unwind and have a drink. App. 341, l. 12 – 342, l. 10. His then girlfriend, Brenda Brown, arrived a few minutes after him. App. 342, ll. 11-15. Petitioner and Brown had argued earlier in the day. App. 341, ll. 18-25. Shortly after Brown arrived, the pair continued their argument. The dispute started inside Punchy’s trailer and eventually continued outside “up the street” from Punchy’s residence. App. 342, ll. 16-18. As Petitioner and Brown were walking down the street arguing, Brown took off her shoe and struck Petitioner in the face. App. 343, ll. 12-17. “Out of reflex,” Petitioner hit Brown and she fell to the ground. App. 344, ll. 8-12.

Brown’s son and several of his friends separated Petitioner and Brown once their argument turned physical. App. 345, ll. 5-11. However, the argument resumed shortly thereafter. After the argument resumed, Dania Kelly approached Petitioner from the right and struck him on the side of his face. Another person hit Petitioner in the back causing him to fall to the ground. Kelly and others, including Rodney Kinloch, began kicking Petitioner while he was on the ground. App. 345, ll. 13-24; App. 347, ll. 6-10. Petitioner was eventually able to get up and escape the beating. After distancing himself from his attackers, Petitioner saw Kelly “brandishing” a gun. App. 346, ll. 1-11. Kelly “cocked it” and said, “Yo, you going to make me come out of retirement.” App. 347, ll. 18-24. Once Kelly threatened Petitioner with the gun, Petitioner fled the area on foot. App. 347, ll. 11-17.

Petitioner suffered bruised ribs and a broken finger as a result of the beating. App. 348, ll. 13-23. A couple of days later, he also discovered blood in his stool and sought medical

treatment from his primary care doctor. App. 348, l. 13 – 349, l. 1. After the bleeding worsened, Petitioner was admitted to the Georgetown Memorial Hospital. With subsequent treatment, the bleeding finally stopped. App. 349, l. 2 – 350, l. 15.

In August, about a month after the altercation, Petitioner was at Punchy's trailer. Punchy's neighbor, Phil, approached Petitioner and asked if he was willing to speak with Dania Kelly, who had participated in the beating and threatened Petitioner with a gun. Petitioner agreed. Kelly ultimately apologized for his involvement in the prior event. App. 351, l. 6 – 352, l. 7.

On the night of December 3, 2014, Petitioner went to Punchy's trailer around half past eight. App. 359, ll. 13-15. His friend, Barney Wilson, arrived shortly thereafter followed by Brenda Brown and some of her family members. App. 360, ll. 17-19; App. 361, l. 24 – 362, l. 1. Wilson bought everyone a drink. As the group was socializing, Rodney Kinloch entered the trailer. Kinloch, who was part of the mob that attacked Petitioner in July, stood behind Petitioner and ordered a drink. Kinloch was "weird acting" "like something was wrong with him." App. 362, ll. 12-16. Before getting his drink, Kinloch left and went back outside the trailer. A few minutes later, Kinloch came back inside and ordered some cigarettes. App. 363, ll. 1-4. Kinloch then left the trailer again. App. 363, ll. 3-5. Petitioner found Kinloch's behavior "weird" and "suspicious." Petitioner "peeped" out the window and saw Dania Kelly's pickup truck parked outside in Punchy's neighbor's yard. App. 363, ll. 5-14.

Kinloch then entered the trailer a third time. This time he stood directly behind Petitioner "about a foot away from the back of [his] head." App. 365, ll. 3-7. Petitioner turned his body to the side in order to "watch [his] back." App. 365, ll. 7-9. "After a few seconds," Kinloch left the

trailer and walked to the driver's door of Kelly's truck. Petitioner watched Kelly and Kinloch exchange words. Kelly then handed Kinloch a gun. App. 365, ll. 9-18.

Barney Wilson was in the bathroom at the time. Petitioner walked to the bathroom and asked Wilson if he "still got that gun." Wilson told him to "hold up" because he was on the phone. Petitioner returned to the front of the trailer and continued to "peep" out the window. App. 366, ll. 4-13. Kinloch then entered the trailer a fourth time and stood behind Petitioner again. App. 366, ll. 14-15. After Kinloch walked outside, Wilson gave Petitioner a gun, which Petitioner hid in his jacket. App. 366, ll. 15-17. Petitioner "felt like something was happening" because of Kinloch's "strange" behavior and the fact that he had seen Kelly give Kinloch a gun. App. 366, ll. 18-24.

Petitioner noticed Kelly's truck was now parked parallel to Punchy's trailer with the driver's side door directly lined up with the front door of the trailer. App. 367, ll. 2-18. Petitioner believed the truck was parked in a "perfect place to ambush or fire a shot" at someone leaving the trailer. App. 367, ll. 9-14. Petitioner was now so uncomfortable he decided to leave. App. 367, ll. 19-25.

Petitioner walked out the front door of Punchy's trailer. Almost immediately, he saw Kelly reaching down in his truck. Petitioner thought Kelly was reaching for a gun. As Kelly began to come back up, Petitioner removed the gun from his jacket and fired three shots. App. 370, l. 1 – 371, l. 2. He approached the truck and saw Kelly leaning "over the steering wheel still reaching down like he was trying to grab something." App. 372, ll. 22. Petitioner pulled the trigger again, but the gun was either out of bullets or jammed. App. 372, ll. 2-23. Before walking away, Petitioner noticed Tavera McCrae, who was sitting in the passenger seat at the

time of the shooting, standing near the back of the truck. Petitioner did not know McCrae was in the truck when he fired. App. 372, ll. 8-16.

Kelly suffered three gunshot wounds: one to the left thigh, one to the left hip, and one to the chest. App. 231, l. 2 – 233, l. 15. The doctor who treated Kelly maintained the wounds to his chest and thigh were potentially left threatening due to the possibility of excessive blood loss. App. 231, l. 20 – 235, l. 9. McCrae was uninjured.

Kelly, Kinloch, and McCrae all claimed none of them were armed that night. App. 182, l. 24 – 183, l. 5; App. 187, ll. 7-9; App. 213, ll. 9-14; App. 242 l. 18 – 243, l. 3. The trio maintained they merely went to Punchy's trailer that night so Kinloch could buy a drink and some loose cigarettes. App. 176, ll. 6-24; App. 211, l. 22 – 213, l. 8; App. 239, l. 24 – 240, l. 5.

A Georgetown County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner on February 25, 2015 for two counts of attempted murder, discharging a firearm into an occupied vehicle, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. App. 589-594. His case was called to trial on February 1, 2016 before the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, and a jury. App. 1. Assistant Solicitor Richard Todd represented the state. App. 1. Ronald Hazzard represented Petitioner. App. 1.

Petitioner moved pretrial for immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act. App. 51, ll. 2-18. Petitioner's testimony pretrial was consistent with his testimony before the jury. See App. 54, l. 11 – 89, l. 2. In response to Petitioner's motion, the state presented the testimony of Daniea Kelly and Tavera McCrae. During Kelly's cross-examination, trial counsel impeached Kelly with his prior convictions for possession of a weapon, possession of cocaine, and strong arm robbery. App. 117, l. 22 – 118, l. 8. Counsel also questioned Kelly about his pending charges for which he was then incarcerated. Kelly

admitted he was arrested on October 15, 2015, less than a year after the shooting. Law enforcement stopped his vehicle on that day because they had an active warrant for his arrest for a drug related offense. During a search of his truck, officers discovered two firearms and drugs. Kelly claimed the firearms and drugs found in his truck belonged to the passenger who was also arrested. App. 117, ll. 3-21; App. 119, l. 15 – 120, l. 19.

The trial judge denied Petitioner immunity from prosecution. App. 140, ll. 15-23. Before Kelly testified before the jury, the state moved to suppress evidence of his pending charges and “his current incarceration.” App. 142, l. 14 – 145, l. 1. Specifically, the state sought to suppress Kelly’s pending charges for “drug distribution, drug possession, and weapons possession.” App. 144, ll. 13-17. The solicitor argued Kelly’s pending charges were inadmissible pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE, since they were not convictions and the event which led to the charges occurred after the shooting for which Petitioner was being tried. App. 143, ll. 5-20. The solicitor claimed trial counsel sought to admit the charges merely to “destroy [Kelly’s] character.” App. 143, ll. 6-7.

Trial counsel argued Kelly’s pending charges were admissible pursuant to Rule 404(a)(2), SCRE, as evidence of his reputation for “turbulence and violence in the community.” App. 145, l. 3 – 146, l. 9. Counsel further argued the pending charges were relevant to Kelly’s “credibility and believability.” App. 153, l. 15 – 154, l. 5. He cited to State v. Moody, 94 S.C. 26, 77 S.E. 713 (1913) and State v. Franklin, 267 S.C. 240, 267 S.E.2d 240 (1976). App. 154, ll. 5-10.

The trial judge ultimately ruled Kelly’s pending charges were inadmissible unless Kelly opened the door to the evidence during his testimony. The judge found the charges were not

relevant because the event which led to the charges occurred ten months after the shooting for which Petitioner was being tried. App. 153, ll. 1-11; App. 157, ll. 19-24.

On cross-examination before the jury, trial counsel impeached Kelly with his prior convictions for strong arm robbery, disorderly conduct, possession of an unlawful weapon, and possession of cocaine. App. 185, l. 18 – 186, l. 24. After Kelly claimed the only time he had ever possessed a gun was related to his prior conviction for possession of an unlawful weapon, trial counsel questioned Kelly about the October 15, 2015 incident where two firearms were found in his vehicle. Kelly denied the guns belonged to him. The following exchange took place:

Q: Okay. So the only time you've had a gun was May 29<sup>th</sup> when you were convicted of the offense May 29<sup>th</sup> of 2007?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: That was the only time?

A: Sir?

Q: That was, that was the only time you ever had a gun in your possession?

A: Yes, sir. That's the only time I ever had a gun in my possession what I've been convicted of.

Q: Okay. Is that the only time you've ever had a gun in your possession?

A: That's the only time I ever had a gun in my possession what I been convicted of, sir.

Q: Okay. So when you were charged October 15<sup>th</sup> of 2015 for having two guns in your possession you didn't have those guns in your possession?

Mr. Todd [Solicitor]: Objection, Your Honor.

The Court: Overruled.

A: They were in the vehicle. They was not mine, sir.

Q: And whose vehicle were you in?

A: That was in my - - I was in my vehicle, sir.

App. 187, l. 13 – 188, l. 8.

Notably, trial counsel did not question Kelly about the exact weapon charges brought against him or the potential penalty he faced. Counsel also did not question Kelly about his pending drug charges or his sentence exposure for those offenses.

On February 4, 2016, the jury found Petitioner guilty of the lesser included offense of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN), the lesser included offense of third degree assault and battery, discharging a firearm into an occupied vehicle, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. App. 472, l. 9 – 473, l. 22. Petitioner was sentenced to twenty years for ABHAN, thirty days for third degree assault and battery, ten years for discharging a firearm into an occupied vehicle, and five years for the weapons offense. All sentences were ordered to be served concurrently. App. 482, l. 22 – 483, l. 10.

The Court of Appeals dismissed Petitioner's direct appeal after a review pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967). App. 498-499.

On July 7, 2017, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 500-509. The state file a return to this application dated October 5, 2017. App. 510-517. With the assistance of counsel, Petitioner filed an amended application on August 27, 2018 raising the claim argued in this petition. App. 518-519. An evidentiary hearing was convened on March 25, 2019 before the Honorable William H. Seals, Jr. App. 520. Assistant Attorney General Johnny James represented the state. App. 520. James Falk represented Petitioner. App. 520.

During the evidentiary hearing, Ronald Hazzard, Petitioner's trial counsel, testified that he never considered arguing Kelly's pending charges were admissible pursuant to Rule 608(c),

SCRE. App. 530, ll. 9-14. Hazzard confirmed Kelly had pending charges at the time of Petitioner's trial for six counts of distribution of drugs, second offense, and two counts of unlawful possession of a weapon.<sup>1</sup> App. 532, l. 9 – 533, l. 1. He testified that three of the drug distribution charges, since they were second offenses, carried five to thirty years. App. 533, ll. 18-22. While Hazzard admitted he wanted the jury to be aware of Kelly's pending charges to show "he was a bad guy," he never argued the evidence was admissible pursuant to Rule 608(c), SCRE, as evidence of bias. App. 534, l. 5 – 535, l. 10.

By order filed October 5, 2020, the PCR judge denied Petitioner relief. App. 558-588. The judge found trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to argue at trial that Dania Kelly's pending charges were admissible as impeachment evidence pursuant to Rule 608(c), SCRE, and Petitioner's Sixth Amendment right to confrontation. App. 584. The judge asserted, "Whether trial counsel did or did not make any particular arguments against the state's motion to suppress questioning regarding Kelly's pending charges is of no consequence" since counsel "was ultimately permitted to question Kelly on the subject and argue in closing against Kelly's credibility and for Kelly's propensity to always carry a gun based in part on [Kelly's] pending gun charges." App. 584. The judge concluded that since Petitioner "cannot prove prejudice . . . his request for relief by way of this allegation is denied." App. 584.

Because Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel were violated by trial counsel's failure to argue Kelly's pending charges were admissible pursuant to the Confrontation Clause and Rule 608(c), SCRE, as evidence of bias, and since Petitioner was prejudiced because there is a reasonable probability the outcome of his

---

<sup>1</sup> All of Kelly's pending charges were dismissed on March 16, 2016, about a month after Petitioner's jury trial, as a result of Kelly's death on or about March 9, 2016. App. 542, ll. 3-8.

trial would have been different if this evidence had been admitted, this petition for writ of certiorari follows.

## ARGUMENT

Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel were violated when trial counsel failed to argue evidence of Daniea Kelly's pending charges and his sentencing exposure on those charges was admissible pursuant to the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment and Rule 608(c), SCRE, as evidence of bias, where there is a reasonable probability the outcome of Petitioner's trial would have been different since Kelly's credibility was crucial to the state's case given the state alleged Petitioner shot Kelly with malice and Petitioner asserted he acted in self-defense.

In order to show ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, Petitioner must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-688.

A two-pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Petitioner must prove "that counsel's performance was deficient" and fell below reasonable professional norms, and there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result would have been different. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial." Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668).

"The Confrontation Clause provides in all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to be confronted with the witnesses against him." State v. Williams, 432 S.C. 515, 522, 854

S.E.2d 166, 169 (Ct. App. 2021) (quoting State v. Gracely, 399 S.C. 363, 372, 731 S.E.2d 880, 885 (2012)) (internal quotation marks and alternations omitted); See U.S. Const. amend. VI. “The Confrontation Clause guarantees a defendant the opportunity to cross-examine a witness concerning bias.” Id. (quoting Gracely, 399 S.C. at 372, 731 S.E.2d at 885) (internal quotation marks omitted). “A defendant demonstrates a Confrontation Clause violation when he is prohibited from engaging in otherwise appropriate cross-examination designed to show a prototypical form of bias from which jurors could draw inferences relating to the reliability of the witness.” Id. at 522-523, 854 S.E.2d at 169 (quoting State v. Clark, 315 S.C. 478, 481, 445 S.E.2d 633, 634 (1994)) (internal quotation marks and alterations omitted).

“Evidence of a witness’s bias can be compelling impeachment evidence, and for that reason ‘considerable latitude is allowed’ to defense counsel in criminal cases ‘in the cross-examination of an adverse witness for the purpose of testing bias.’” Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 182, 810 S.E.2d 836, 840 (2018) (quoting State v. Brown, 303 S.C. 169, 171, 399 S.E.2d 593, 594 (1991)). “Our courts have followed the general rule that anything having a legitimate tendency to throw light on the accuracy, truthfulness, and sincerity of a witness may be shown and considered in determining the credit to be accorded his testimony, so that on cross-examination, any fact may be elicited which tends to show interest, bias, or partiality of the witness.” Id. at 182-183, 810 S.E.2d at 840 (quoting State v. Brewington, 297 S.C. 97, 101, 226 S.E.2d 249, 250 (1976)) (internal quotation marks omitted). “Rule 608(c) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence preserves this longstanding . . . precedent.” Id. at 183, 810 S.E.2d at 840 (quoting State v. Sims, 348 S.C. 16, 25, 558 S.E.2d 518, 523 (2002)) (internal quotation marks omitted); See State v. Jones, 343 S.C. 562, 570, 541 S.E.2d 813, 817 (2001).

Rule 608 (c), SCRE, provides, “Bias, prejudice or any motive to misrepresent may be shown to impeach the witness either by examination of the witness or by evidence otherwise adduced.”

In Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018), this Court held trial counsel was ineffective for failing to cross-examine Eugene Greene, a state witness, with his pending carjacking charge, which was dismissed by the prosecutor the morning of the first day of Small’s jury trial. Smalls was tried for the armed robbery of a Bojangles restaurant. Green and another employee, Jim Lightner, were closing the restaurant when a man charged in the door wielding a shotgun. Id. at 179, 810 S.E.2d at 838. The man forced Lightner to the back of the restaurant to open the safe. Id. Green escaped out the front door and ran to a gas station across the street where he called the police. Id. While on the phone with the police, Green saw the robber walk out the side service door of the Bojangles carrying the shotgun in one hand and a white bag in the other. Id. The man walked out of a wooden gate near the back of the parking lot just as police arrived at the front of the Bojangles. Id. Although officers were unable to find the suspect at that time, they did find a shotgun and a white bag containing nearly two thousand dollars just outside the gate. Id. A fingerprint expert determined that one of several prints found on the gun belonged to Smalls. Id.

Four days after the robbery, Green identified Smalls in a photographic lineup. Id. at 179, 810 S.E.2d at 839. Lightner, however, could not identify Smalls, but did narrow the suspects down to two people, one of whom was Smalls. Id. At trial, the state introduced Green’s pretrial identification of Smalls. Id. Green also testified and identified Smalls in the courtroom. Id.

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