STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Sep 20 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, General Sessions Judge
Honorable William H. Seals, PCR Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-001364

JAMIE L. GILES, #324946

Petitioner

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

Respondent

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM H. RAY
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 104476
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211

Attorney for Respondent

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

The Court took the matter under advisement before granting the State’s motion to suppress questioning of the victim regarding his pending charges. (App. 153, 1-11). The Court reasoned that the pending charges did not arise until ten months after the shooting and therefore were of little relevance. *Id.* Counsel again asserted that the evidence should be admissible under Rule 404(A)(2), SCRE, because it shows his reputation for turbulence and violence in the community. (App. 154, 15 – App. 155, 22). The Court stated that “the major reason for [its] ruling is the fact

that these alleged bad acts didn't occur until 10 months after the alleged incident.” (App. 157, 19-24).

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner's counsel stated that his argument is that “trial counsel could have tried to impeach the prosecuting witness based on bias” under Rule 608(c), SCRE, but only argued that the evidence was admissible to show a reputation for violence in the community. (App. 523, 20 – App. 524, 22). Trial counsel testified that Kelly was facing significant time on charges he had incurred prior to Petitioner's trial. (App. 532, 9 – App. 534, 4). He stated that he wanted to be able to show the jury that Kelly was a “bad guy” and he felt that he could do so by showing his record before and after the shooting. (App. 534, 7-10). He stated that he did not argue that evidence of pending charges would be admissible under Rule 608(c) at a pretrial hearing, but did argue that a gun charge would be admissible because it could show Kelly's turbulence in the community. (App. 534, 24 – App. 535, 6). He acknowledged that he questioned Kelly about whether he had possessed a gun as well as his pending gun charge. (App. 536, 22 – App. 537, 6). He explained that he wanted the evidence about the gun charge to show that Kelly “always had guns on him and was willing to use them.” (App. 537, 6-13). However, he was unable to paint Kelly as an “armed drug dealer” because he was unable to “get into any of his drug activities at the time.” (App. 544, 4-9).

Trial counsel stated that Kelly did not receive any benefit on his pending charges in exchange for his testimony against Petitioner because the State “really felt he was a bad actor.” (App. 541, 22 – App. 542, 3). The charges were dismissed, not because of Kelly's cooperation with the State, but because Kelly died shortly after Petitioner's trial, possibly due to the lingering effects of the gunshot wounds. (App. 542, 4-16).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for post-conviction relief matters depends on the specific issues before the appellate court. *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018). Overall, reviewing courts give “great deference to the post-conviction relief court’s findings of fact and conclusions of law,” with the applicant shouldering the burden of proof. *Dempsey v. State*, 363 S.C. 365, 368, 610 S.E.2d 812, 814 (2005); *Caprood v. State*, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000); *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985); Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC. Further, a PCR court’s findings will be upheld if there is “any evidence of probative value sufficient to support them.” *Id.* Reversal of the lower court’s findings occurs when there is no probative value to support the initial finding. *Pierce v. State*, 338 S.C. 139, 526 S.E.2d 222 (2000). Courts must conduct a de novo review when evaluating questions of law and are required to reverse the initial holding when the decision is controlled by an error of law. *Smalls*, 422 S.C. at 180-81, 810 S.E.2d 839-40; *Goins v. State*, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

ARGUMENT

Petitioner has failed to show that the PCR Court erred in finding that Petitioner’s counsel was not ineffective for failing to impeach the shooting victim for bias by introducing evidence of his sentencing exposure on unrelated charges where counsel impeached the victim on other grounds, the victim’s testimony was corroborated by other witnesses, and the State presented very strong evidence of Petitioner’s guilt.

Petitioner claims that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to argue that evidence of the victim, Daniea Kelly’s, pending charges could be introduced to show bias under the Confrontation Clause and Rule 608, SCRE. Petitioner argues that he was prejudiced by his trial counsel’s failure to make the jury aware of the charges and sentences Kelly was facing because Kelly’s credibility was crucial to the state’s case. Kelly’s testimony refuted Petitioner’s claim of self-defense, and had the jury known that Kelly was facing significant prison time for subsequent offenses, they would have assumed he was biased against Petitioner and would not have believed his story. This argument is without merit.

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution guarantee Petitioner, like all other defendants, the right to effective assistance of counsel. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); *Taylor v. State*, 404 S.C. 350, 359, 745 S.E.2d 97, 101 (2013). In a post-conviction relief action, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations by a preponderance of the evidence—a mere allegation of ineffective assistance is not sufficient to warrant granting relief. Rule 71.1(e), SCRCP; *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). The reviewing court applies the two-part test outlined in *Strickland* to determine whether counsel’s conduct “was so ineffective as to require reversal” of the applicant’s conviction or sentence. 466 U.S. at 687. First, the applicant must show that counsel’s performance was deficient; and second, that the deficient performance prejudiced the applicant. *Id.* at 669, 2056; *Butler*, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814.

In order to prove deficient performance, the applicant must show counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of “reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117-18, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. *Butler*, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814. Judicial scrutiny of trial counsel’s performance must be highly deferential, and a fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel’s challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel’s perspective at the time. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689.

Trial counsel is required during any trial to make split-second decisions on many subjects, including whether to object to testimony. *Stone v. State*, 419 S.C. 370, 383, 798 S.E.2d 561, 568 (2017). Trial counsel may employ a strategy of not objecting—even when there is a good argument for exclusion—if counsel reasonably perceives the benefits of doing so are outweighed by some other consideration. *Id.* See *Watson v. State*, 370 S.C. 68, 72-73, 634 S.E.2d 642, 644 (2006) (overruled on other grounds by *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836). Counsel’s strategic decisions will not be found to be deficient performance if he articulates a valid reason for employing the strategy. *Stone*, 419 S.C. at 384, 798 S.E.2d at 569.

The second, or “prejudice” prong of *Strickland* is rooted in the very purpose of the Sixth Amendment guarantee of counsel—to ensure a defendant has the assistance necessary to justify reliance on the outcome of the proceeding. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 691-92. In order to prove prejudice, an applicant must demonstrate counsel’s deficient performance prejudiced the applicant such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. A

reasonable probability is a probability “sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. Thus, it is not enough “to show the errors had some conceivable effect” on the outcome of the proceeding—counsel’s errors must be “so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial.” *Id.* at 687

The performance and prejudice standards, however, “do not establish mechanical rules; [t]he ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. *Id.* at 696, at 2069. Moreover, “there is no reason for a court deciding an ineffective assistance claim to approach the inquiry in the same order or even to address both components of the inquiry if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on one.” *Id.* at 697, at 2069. The court “need not determine whether counsel’s performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies. *Id.* If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, the court may evaluate the prejudice prong only. *Id.*

Rule 608(c), SCRE states that “bias, prejudice or any motive to misrepresent may be shown to impeach the witness either by examination of the witness or by evidence otherwise adduced.” A criminal defendant is entitled to cross-examine a witness about the specifics of pending criminal charges the witness faces to show that the witness has given biased testimony in the hopes that the solicitor will highlight his cooperation to a future trial judge. *State v. Sims*, 348 S.C. 16, 558 S.E.2d 518 (2002). Counsel’s performance may be deficient if they fail to cross-examine a witness regarding pending charges. *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018). The deficient failure to cross-examine the witness on this point is magnified when the charges are actually dismissed prior to trial in a quid pro quo exchange for the testimony being given. *Id.* 422 S.C. at 183-84, 810 S.E.2d at 841.

Failure to cross-examine a witness about pending charges and sentencing exposure can be harmless. *State v. Williams*, 432 S.C. 515, 854 S.E.2d 166 (Ct. App. 2021). To determine whether such a failure prejudices a defendant, it is proper to consider:

- (1) the importance of the witness's testimony in the prosecution's case,
- (2) whether the testimony was cumulative,
- (3) the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points,
- (4) the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and, of course,
- (5) the overall strength of the prosecution's case.

Id. (citing *State v. Gracely*, 399 S.C. 363, 731 S.E.2d 880 (2012)).

As an initial matter, any reasonable jury would have assumed Kelly was biased against Petitioner, regardless of whether any evidence of his pending charges was introduced, due to the very nature of the allegations. Kelly took the stand and accused Petitioner of shooting him multiple times without provocation. Petitioner admitted it by arguing self-defense. No reasonable juror would ever view Kelly as a neutral, unbiased witness. The fact that trial counsel did not specifically impeach Kelly for bias with evidence of sentencing exposure on pending charges cannot be deficient or prejudicial because the jury could infer that he was biased from the rest of his testimony.

Petitioner's argument that the jury would have believed Kelly was misrepresenting his testimony in exchange for leniency if it had heard more information about his charges is improbable. There is no reasonable probability that the outcome of his trial would have been different with that additional information. At most it would have just added to what the jurors already knew; Kelly was interested in providing valuable testimony for the State to convict Petitioner. The jury nevertheless convicted Petitioner, not because it misjudged Kelly's credibility, but because the State presented strong evidence of Petitioner's guilt with ample evidence corroborating Kelly's story.

The jury heard testimony from ten witnesses, including Petitioner himself. McCrea corroborated almost every piece of Kelly's testimony, including the tint of the windows, the fact that neither of them had a weapon, and the fact that Petitioner followed Kinloch out of the trailer before opening fire. Kinloch confirmed that there had been a prior altercation months earlier, that Kelly did not have a gun on the night of the shooting, and that he was sitting in his truck with McCrea when he was shot without warning. Punchy Burroughs confirmed Kelly's testimony that Kinloch was inside the house with Petitioner prior to the shooting. Burroughs also confirmed that Kelly's truck with dark tinted windows sat outside his trailer. Every material point of Kelly's testimony was corroborated by other witnesses. The only evidence that contradicted Kelly's story on any material points came from Petitioner, who himself even admitted that Kelly did not point a gun at him before he shot. Petitioner's argument that Kelly lied on the stand to receive a favorable offer on his pending charges is clearly not the case given the abundance of evidence the State presented backing up his story.

Furthermore, Petitioner's counsel *did* impeach Kelly's credibility with the pending charges. He questioned Kelly about when he was charged with the crimes, whether he possessed the guns giving rise to the offense, and whether he stopped taking classes to become a barber after the date of his arrest. He questioned him on whether he possessed, or disposed of, a firearm on the night in question. The jury heard about Kelly's extensive prior record, much of which he admitted was true. Kelly stated that he had only discussed the case with the prosecution one time, making clear that he had not been offered any sort of a deal in exchange for his testimony. A jury could conceivably view this evidence and determine that his testimony was not credible, or that the shooting was done in self-defense. However, the jury was not persuaded. Adding an additional question about pending drug charges or how much time he was facing would have added nothing

to the jury's credibility determinations. It knew Kelly was a criminal facing serious charges. It could reasonably infer he was also facing significant time. Admitting evidence of just how much time would not have affected his credibility whatsoever.

Finally, the Sixth Amendment requires that counsel pursue a valid, reasonable trial strategy. It does not require that counsel pursue *every* trial strategy. Trial counsel did cross-examine Kelly about his prior record and pending charges. Kelly admitted on cross-examination that he had incurred a weapons charge months after the shooting. The jury also heard questions about whether he disposed of any guns or drugs on the night in question. Finally, the jury heard that Kelly had only discussed his testimony with the State on one occasion. Impeaching Kelly on these grounds to show his turbulence and violence in the community was an objectively reasonable, albeit unsuccessful strategy. Post-conviction relief is not appropriate under such circumstances.

The record clearly shows that Petitioner's counsel was permitted extensive cross examination, all material points of Kelly's testimony were corroborated by other witnesses, and the prosecution presented very strong evidence of Petitioner's guilt. Furthermore, as a factual matter, Kelly was never offered any leniency in exchange for his testimony against Petitioner. Instead, he died before his pending charges could be resolved, quite possibly because of the injuries Petitioner inflicted upon him. Counsel's failure to introduce additional evidence of potential bias was clearly harmless. In other words, Petitioner has not shown prejudice from his counsel's performance, the allegation is without merit, and this Court should deny certiorari.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny certiorari. However, should this Court grant certiorari, Respondent requests permission to fully brief the issues discussed herein.